THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Daniel Dewitt Hall, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2017-CP-40-06172
Appellate Case No. 2019-001047

Michael Edmonds, Respondent,

v.

City of Columbia, Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Dana M. Thye # 16602
OFFICE OF THE CITY ATTORNEY
P.O. Box 667
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 737-4242
dana.thye@columbiasc.gov

Attorney for Appellant

RECEIVED
DEC 04 2019
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the jury's verdict that the City of Columbia was "negligent" in the respondent's "separation of employment" should be reversed.

INTRODUCTION

This case is about upholding at-will employment. Under at-will employment a worker may be terminated from a job or may resign a job at any time and for a good reason, a dumb reason, or for no reason at all.

South Carolina favors at-will employment because it provides flexibility and stimulates economic development. Those things suffer when people lack the ability to freely change jobs and when employers do not have the right to pick their own employees.

The respondent is a fireman who had a long career with the Columbia fire department. His service record is commendable and honorable. In 2017 the chief of the fire department asked respondent to resign. Respondent was serving as an assistant chief at the time. This was an executive job. Respondent worked directly under the head fire chief.

After resigning, respondent brought this lawsuit claiming he was forced out for speaking his mind and for sharing views that did not reflect well on the department's leadership. After a four day trial, a jury found for respondent on a claim for negligence and awarded \$65 thousand in damages. The verdict form asked whether the City had been "negligent" in respondent's "separation of employment." This was over the City's objection.

"Negligent separation" is not a tort. And though the City would vigorously dispute it was negligent in any respect, even if the City *was* negligent, there simply is no liability for negligently firing an at-will employee. The verdict has no legal basis and should be reversed.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Michael Edmonds began working at the City of Columbia fire department in 1987. (R.p.92, lines 16-17). He was promoted several times over the course of his career. (R.p.94, line 10 - p.97, line 2).

When the longtime fire chief retired in 2010, the new chief asked Edmonds to serve in an executive job as “assistant chief of administration.” (R.p.97, lines 4-10). This involved helping the department develop a budget, writing specifications for equipment, participating in the procurement process, and administrative responsibilities related to maintaining the department’s vehicles and buildings. (R.p.97, line 20 - p.98, line 13).

In the Spring of 2016 the City engaged an outside consulting company to conduct an assessment of the fire department. (R.p.188, line 23 - p.189, line 1). Though the reasons for this are not described in great detail, the testimony at trial referenced the assessment being prompted by a few dangerous or serious incidents at a couple fire stations. (R.p.101, lines 8-12; p.189, lines 5-13; p.207, lines 11-25). The assessment consisted of a firefighter survey as well as interviews with 108 individuals in the department’s management and leadership staff. (R.p.290, lines 6-9). The consultant reported the assessment’s results to the City in April of 2016. (R.p.297, lines 7-11).

A little over a year later, in June of 2017, a blogger published a story with several criticisms of the fire department. The story alleged a number of things including that “a chief with purchasing authority” made a potentially unethical decision in ordering \$60 thousand worth of firefighting gloves. (R.p.450). The story did not mention Edmonds, but Edmonds said everyone in the department interpreted this as a reference to him. (R.p.153, lines 5-12).

Shortly thereafter, in July of 2017, the fire chief asked Edmonds to resign. (R.p.156, line 15 - p.157, line 12). Edmonds testified the fire chief cited the glove purchase and problems with facilities. *Id.* The fire chief agreed with this account. (R.p.345, lines 14-18).

Edmonds filed this suit three months later, in October of 2017. (R.p.5). One of his claims stems from the 2017 blog article. The rest relate to the consultant's 2016 assessment.

First, Edmonds alleged the City defamed him by asking for his resignation shortly after the blog article appeared on the internet. (R.p.11). In Edmonds' view, asking him to leave the department implied the article's criticisms were valid and were his fault. *Id.*

Second, Edmonds alleged the City promised that comments made to the consultant during the 2016 outside assessment would be confidential and that the real reason he was asked to resign was that he had been critical of the chief's leadership, causing the chief to retaliate. Edmonds made these allegations via claims for negligence, negligent misrepresentation, promissory estoppel, and wrongful termination. (R.pp.12-14).

The negligence and defamation claims were the only claims that went to the jury.

Edmonds dropped negligent misrepresentation during the pre-trial proceedings. The trial transcript does not mention this, but there was no mention of the claim during the trial itself, the claim did not appear on the verdict form, and the trial court did not charge negligent misrepresentation to the jury. (R.p.1 & p.413, line 4 - p.431, line 3).

The trial court granted the City a directed verdict on the claim for wrongful termination. The court noted such a claim requires a plaintiff to show his or her termination was in direct violation of a specific public policy. (R.p.282, lines 17-21). Edmonds alleged the chief asked him to resign in retaliation for Edmonds telling the consultant the department

was understaffed, exceeding its overtime budget, and unevenly applying policies on restricted duty and continuing education. (R.p.103, line 14 - p.104, line 13). Citing precedent, the trial court found these allegations did not violate a specific public policy and that it was important to honor at-will employment. (R.p.282, line 21 - p.283, line 14).

The trial court also found against Edmonds on promissory estoppel. The court noted this was an equitable claim rather than a claim for the jury and found Edmonds failed to prove the elements of this cause of action. (R.p.366, line 20 - p.367, line 3).

The jury found against Edmonds on his claim for defamation. (R.p.1). And, as noted previously, the jury found in favor of Edmonds on a verdict form asking whether the City had been “negligent” with respect to Edmonds’ “separation of employment.” *Id.* The jury returned the verdict February 22, 2019, after a three day trial.

The City filed a timely motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict arguing, among other things, that negligent separation was not a cause of action and that no evidence supported the only “negligence” claim properly before the court, which was the complaint’s allegation that the City negligently supervised the outside consultant. (R.pp.17-18). These mirrored arguments the City made for a directed verdict. (R.p.261, lines 8-18; p.262, line 4 - p.263, line 18; p.367, lines 7 - 22; p.368, line 21 - p.369, line 10; p.370, line 23 - p.371, line 10). The City previously made similar arguments for summary judgment; claiming Edmonds could not identify a legal duty the City failed to fulfill. (R.p.26).

The trial court denied the motion for JNOV in a form 4 order filed three months later, in May of 2017. (R.pp.2-4). The order stated, without further explanation, that the record and law did not warrant granting the motion. *Id.*

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This court's review in a case at law "extends merely" to correcting errors of law. *Townes Assocs., Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 85, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976).

ARGUMENT

There are two basic reasons this Court should reverse.

First, there is no tort of "negligent separation." South Carolina has a strong policy favoring at-will employment, and an at-will employee can be fired for a good reason, a bad reason, a negligent reason, or no reason at all. No exceptions to this rule are in play. Edmonds' wrongful termination claim was dismissed and that ruling was not appealed.

Second, there is simply no evidence in this record supporting recovery on any recognized species of negligence. Edmonds argued the City breached a voluntary undertaking, committed negligent supervision, and made a negligent misrepresentation, but the jury was not charged on any of those things and the facts would not support them either.

The jury's verdict is understandable. Edmonds is a sympathetic plaintiff. The jury might have been reluctant to let him leave court empty handed.

Still, Edmonds was an at-will employee. Even if the City *was* negligent in asking for his resignation, that cannot support liability. This Court should reverse.

A. There is no tort of "negligent separation."

South Carolina has a strong policy favoring at-will employment, under which the employment relationship "may be terminated at any time for any reason or no reason, with or without cause." *Taghivand v. Rite Aid Corp.*, 411 S.C. 240, 243, 768 S.E.2d 385, 386 (2015). As already noted, this provides flexibility and promotes economic development. *Id.*

Even so, there are two recognized limits on the right to immediately end a workplace relationship. The parties may agree to “restrict their freedom” to fire someone without cause or to “resign with impunity.” *Prescott v. Farmers Tel. Co-op.*, 335 S.C. 330, 335, 516 S.E.2d 923, 925 (1999). Also, someone who may be fired for any reason or for no reason may nevertheless not be fired for an *illegal* reason. That claim is known as “wrongful discharge” and was recognized in *Ludwick v. This Minute of Carolina*, 287 S.C. 219, 225, 337 S.E.2d 213, 216 (1985). The worker in that case was fired for obeying a subpoena. The Supreme Court recognized a wrongful discharge claim because it deemed the firing unlawful.

The City is not aware of any authority suggesting that someone who loses a job has a claim against the former employer for “negligence” or “negligent separation.” Indeed, the cases discussing wrongful discharge suggest *that* claim is the only option since, “absent a contractual provision to the contrary, an employee may be terminated at any time for any reason or no reason, with or without cause.” *Taghivand*, 411 S.C. at 243, 768 S.E.2d at 386.

Ludwick only recognized a wrongful discharge claim because there was no other remedy for an at-will employee’s firing. In doing so, the Court acknowledged it was reluctant to modify the law governing at-will employment because it might spawn “an outpouring of vexatious and frivolous litigation” and limit the employer’s “rightful prerogative to select employees.” 287 S.C. at 225, 337 S.E.2d at 216.

Nothing after *Ludwick* suggests an at-will employee might have a claim for negligence or negligent separation. A fairly recent case explains an at-will employee can be fired at any time, for any reason or no reason, and that the employee’s “cause of action in tort” is for “wrongful termination” when *Ludwick*’s exception applies. *Barron v. Labor*

Finders, 393 S.C. 609, 614, 713 S.E.2d 634, 636-637 (2011). Other cases are written the same way. *Owens v. Crabtree*, 425 S.C. 513, 823 S.E.2d 224 (Ct. App. 2019) (no viable claim for wrongful termination); *Donevant v. Surfside Beach*, 422 S.C. 264, 811 S.E.2d 744 (2018) (successful claim for wrongful termination). A concurring opinion pointedly explains that unless the firing violates public policy an at-will employee can be terminated for “good cause, no cause, or even cause that is morally wrong.” *Stiles v. Am. Gen. Life Ins. Co.*, 335 S.C. 222, 227, 516 S.E.2d 449, 452 (1999) (Toal, J.). These cases would be written differently if an employer could be liable for firing an at-will employee based on a “negligent” cause.

The circumstances in this case appear similar to the circumstances in *Gause v. Doe*, 317 S.C. 39, 451 S.E.2d 408 (Ct. App. 1994). There, as here, the case was brought by a first responder who was fired in the wake of misconduct allegations and who basically claimed there was not a good reason for his firing. The plaintiff sued for slander, wrongful termination, negligence, and outrage. The trial court dismissed the claims for slander and negligence, and the plaintiff appealed.

This Court explained the plaintiff could not meet the elements of a negligence claim because he was an at-will employee who could be terminated at any time. 317 S.C. at 42, 451 S.E.2d at 409. The Court said it did not matter whether he was fired after an “inadequate” investigation, whether he was fired based on a false assumption, or whether he was fired because his employer failed to reevaluate its decision to end the employment. *Id.*

This case is like that. Edmonds’ basic complaint is that he believes the fire chief gave bogus reasons for firing him and that he was fired because he gave blunt criticisms of

the department's leadership. The City does not agree with those things, but whether they are true or not, they do not matter. As in *Gause*, Edmonds was an at-will employee who could be fired for a good reason or a bad reason; for no reason or a negligent reason.

B. There is no evidence in this record supporting recovery on any recognized species of negligence.

As noted above, Edmonds' basic argument at trial was that he was fired because he gave blunt criticisms of the department's leadership during the outside consultant's 2016 assessment of the fire department. Edmonds' complaint expressed this basic argument in two tort claims: negligence and negligent misrepresentation. (R.pp.12-13).

The complaint tied these claims to specific conduct. The negligence claim relied on a duty Edmonds said the City owed to conduct a "confidential" assessment. (R.p.12, ¶65). Though dropped before trial, the "negligent misrepresentation" claim looks to have been virtually identical. There, the complaint alleged the City misrepresented that the consultant's study of the fire department would be confidential. (R.p.13, ¶70).

The complaint alleged this duty/promise of confidentiality was breached when the consultant supposedly told another executive in the fire department that Edmonds had "a lot to say" when the consultant interviewed Edmonds. (R.p.8, ¶28); see also (R.pp.444-445).

Edmonds added other allegations at trial. He claimed the City breached confidentiality by sharing the consultant's final report with the fire chief. (R.p.268, lines 3-14; p.364, lines 14-24). He also claimed the City had been negligently supervising the fire chief because the fire chief continued to run the department after the consultant's report supposedly identified "big problems" in the department. (R.p.267, line 22 - p.268, line 2;

p.373, lines 8-14). Edmonds cited the law on voluntary undertakings as basis for an alleged duty of care. (R.p.268, line 19 - p.269, line 3; p.373, lines 21-24). Again, none of these things were in the complaint. All of this came up for the first time at trial.

Even so, none of these allegations and arguments meet the requirements for any viable negligence claim that has previously been recognized in this state.

Precedent explains a duty arising from a voluntary undertaking has “thus far been limited to situations in which a party has voluntarily undertaken to prevent physical harm, not economic injury.” *Johnson v. Robert E. Lee Acad.*, 401 S.C. 500, 506, 737 S.E.2d 512, 515 (Ct. App. 2012) (quoting *Hendricks v. Clemson Univ.*, 353 S.C. 449, 458, 578 S.E.2d 711, 715 (2003)). Edmonds did not suffer physical harm, and the City’s promise of confidentiality was not a promise that was necessary to protect Edmonds from physical harm.

Also, the trial court did not charge the jury on anything related to a voluntary undertaking. (R.p.413, line 4 - p.431, line 3). The charges on negligence were brief and only fill a little over two pages of the transcript. (R.p.422, line 23 - p.424, line 17).

The trial court did not charge the elements of negligent supervision either. And even if negligent supervision had been charged, an employer cannot be liable for negligently supervising someone unless that person committed a tort. See *James v. Kelly Trucking Co.*, 377 S.C. 628, 631, 661 S.E.2d 329, 330 (2008) (listing the elements of negligent hiring, training, and supervision). Nobody has identified a tort claim against the outside consultant or the fire chief. Edmonds was an at-will employee who could be fired for most any reason.

The negligent misrepresentation claim was dropped, but even if it had not been dropped, the elements could never apply. Precedent says the alleged negligent

misrepresentation has to involve a false statement of fact that induces the plaintiff to enter into a contract or business transaction. *Gilliland v. Elmwood Props.*, 301 S.C. 295, 301, 391 S.E.2d 577, 580 (1990). Examples of viable misrepresentation claims include falsely promising a prospective automobile purchaser that she would qualify for certain promotional materials if she bought a certain car and promising an insurance applicant that he would be “covered” once he took certain actions. *deBondt v. Carlton Motorcars, Inc.*, 342 S.C. 254, 536 S.E.2d 399 (Ct. App. 2000); *Rickborn v. Liberty Life Ins. Co.*, 321 S.C. 291, 468 S.E.2d 292 (1996). Nobody induced Edmonds to enter into any contract or transaction.

The trial court told the jury that the court would decide whether the City owed Edmonds a duty of care, (R.p.423, lines 3-8), but the court never did this. It just told the jury “[n]egligence means [] a person has done something that a reasonable person would not have done or has failed to do something that a reasonable person would have done in the same situation.” (R.p.423, lines 13-17). This was over the City’s objection that the verdict form should be limited to whether the City failed to use reasonable care in supervising the outside consultant because that was the only negligence claim properly before the court. (R.p.367, lines 7-19; p.383, line 1 - p.384, line 25) & (R.pp.460-461) (City’s proposed verdict form).