THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Daniel D. Hall, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2018-CP-40-06172
Appellate Case No. 2019-001047

RECEIVED

DEC 19 2019

SC Court of Appeals

Michael Edmonds Respondent,

v.

City of Columbia, Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

J. Paul Porter, Esquire (# 100723)
Cromer Babb Porter & Hicks, LLC
1418 Laurel Street, Suite A (29201)
Post Office Box 11675
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-11675
Phone 803-799-9530
Facsimile 803-799-9533
paul@cbphlaw.com

Attorney for Respondent

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

⁶ Edmonds, in his complaint developed by the record below, asserted the existence of due care independent of his at-will employment relationship with the City. (*See*, R. p. 12 ¶¶ 64-65).

⁷ The City, in this section, cites the oral offer contract case *Prescott v. Farmers Tel. Co-op.* 355 S.C. 330, 516 S.E.2d 923 (1999). The City cites the following wrongful discharge cases: *Ludwick v. This Minute of Columbia*, 287 S.C. 219, 337 S.E.2d 213 (1985); *Taghivand v. Rite Aid Corp.*, 411 S.C. 240, 768 S.E.2d 385 (2015); *Owens v. Crabtree*, 425 S.C. 513, 823 S.E.2d 224 (Ct. App. 2019), *reh’g denied* (Feb. 21, 2019), *cert. denied* (June 28, 2019); *Barron v. Labor Finders of S.C.*, 393 S.C. 609, 713 S.E.2d 634, (2011); *Donevant v. Town of Surfside Beach*, 422 S.C. 264, 811 S.E.2d 744 (2018), *reh’g denied* (Apr. 17, 2018); and *Stiles v. Am. Gen. Life Ins. Co.*, 335 S.C. 222, 516 S.E.2d 449 (1999).

⁸ The easiest way to perform such a “word search” is to access the cases in an online reporter, press the control key and the “f” key simultaneously (ctrl + f), for find in page, and then type the word “negligence” or a sub-part thereof (such as “neg”).

relationship. Instead, those cases, many of which were available to the Court when it ruled in *Sabb*, have nothing to do with the City's desired outcome.

Here, the Trial Judge properly ascertained the existence of a duty of care and charged negligence to the jury. This case cleanly lines up with the authority set forth in *Sabb*. The City's argument generally averring that negligence cannot arise within an at-will employment relationship should be rejected.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY FOUND AN ACTIONABLE DUTY.

The City's second argument piggybacks its first. The City concludes its appeal by asserting that "there is no evidence in this record supporting recovery on any recognized species of negligence." (Appellant Brief p. 8).

Although the Appellant opens with a reference to the sufficiency of the record evidence its argument seems more focused on the latter concern—whether Edmonds' claim qualifies as a "recognized species" of negligence? Nonetheless, there is sufficient record evidence in this case to establish negligence. Here, the record reflects that promised confidentiality was not maintained in a department-wide survey resulting in animus from the City Fire Chief toward Edmonds; that the survey revealed serious concerns with the City Fire Chief's leadership and behavior; and that the City allowed Edmonds to be unfairly, constructively discharged after it was placed on notice of the Fire Chief's desire to terminate Edmonds on illegitimate grounds when he first became aware of Edmonds complaint due to breached confidentiality. "In ruling on a motion for JNOV, the trial judge cannot disturb the factual findings of a jury unless a review of the record discloses no evidence which reasonably supports them. *Burns v. Universal Health Servs., Inc.*, 361 S.C. 221, 231–32, 603 S.E.2d 605, 611 (Ct. App. 2004). Thus, to the extent the City is challenging the sufficiency of the record, it cannot establish that there is "no evidence" which reasonably supports the Jury's verdict. *See, Id.*

Before jumping into the law, the City mischaracterizes the complaint and procedural history of this case with respect to the scope of Edmonds' negligence claim. (Appellant Brief pp. 8-9). The City here, as it attempted to do at trial, parses words from the complaint to argue that the breadth of Edmonds' claim was expanded at trial. The City asserts that the only allegation of negligence in the Complaint was geared toward some alleged failure of the City's investigator/consultant to maintain Edmonds' confidentiality. Admittedly, the Complaint was heavily concerned with the City's failure (as opposed to the consultant's failure) to maintain the confidentiality it promised in *Edmonds* because that was the starting point for the chain of events giving rise to this claim; however, the Complaint was not restrained to that concern alone. After focusing specifically on the issue of the consultant's investigation at ¶ 64 (where the operative fact pattern in this case began,) the Complaint continues at ¶ 65 to discuss more broadly three different ways the City breached its duty of care to Edmonds:

65. This duty was based on the Defendant's ordinary duty to supervise its employees and agents, the representations it made to Plaintiff and others about confidentiality, and the knowledge that harm could foreseeably occur to Plaintiff's reputation if the Defendant did not ensure and maintain confidentiality.

(R. p. 12 at ¶ 65). Here, Edmonds references negligent supervision, negligence based on promised confidentiality, and negligence based on foreseeable harm to Plaintiff's reputation. Giving the City the benefit of the doubt, which it is not necessarily entitled to, its assertion that "All of this came up for the first time in trial" is exaggerated. Edmonds' memorandum in opposition to summary judgment, though again focused in large part on where everything began—the consultant's investigation, did assert the broader concepts of negligent supervision and negligence based on the foreseeability of harm to Edmonds' reputation. (Pl. MIO to MSJ pp. 42-43, 47-48).

Here, inasmuch as the scope of Edmonds' negligence claim was broadened at the summary judgment stage or later at trial, the City's challenge to the scope of Edmonds' negligence claim is not warranted now. "Issues not raised by the pleadings but tried by the consent of the parties are treated

as if they had been raised in the pleadings.” *Simmons v. Berkeley Elec. Co-op. Inc.*, 404 S.C. 172, 178, 744 S.E.2d 580, 584 (Ct. App. 2013), *aff’d in part, rev’d in part sub nom. Simmons v. Berkeley Elec. Coop., Inc.*, 419 S.C. 223, 797 S.E.2d 387 (2016). Consent under Rule 15(b), SCRPC can be either “express or implied.” Rule 15(b), SCRPC. The City did not challenge the breadth of Edmonds’ argument on negligence at all on summary judgment, and the City never argued that it was prejudiced by the scope of Edmonds’ negligence claim at trial which would have prompted the Trial Court to consider the propriety an Rule 15(b) amendment. *Harvey v. Strickland*, 350 S.C. 303, 313, 566 S.E.2d 529, 535 (2002) (“Amendments to conform to the proof should be liberally allowed when no prejudice to the opposing party will result.”). The Trial Court never had the need or occasion to exercise its discretion on a Rule 15(b) amendment either because: (a) the Court agreed with Edmonds that his claim, as tried, was properly within the confines of his complaint and/or later briefing; or (b) the City never asserted that it was prejudiced by the scope of Edmonds’ negligence claim as tried. *Harvey*; 566 S.E.2d at 535 (“This decision [on a motion to conform] is within the trial court’s discretion.”). Under either scenario, the City’s discussion of the scope of Edmonds’ negligence claim on brief, which does not cite to any authority, does not impact the actionability of Edmonds’ otherwise cognizable negligence claim.

Moving on to the legal arguments by the City in this section, “[w]hether the law recognizes a particular duty is an issue of law to be determined by the court.” *Ellis by Ellis v. Niles*, 324 S.C. 223, 227, 479 S.E.2d 47, 49 (1996). A duty of care is “that standard of conduct the law requires of an actor in order to protect others against the risk of harm from his actions. It embodies the principle that a plaintiff should not be called to suffer a harm to his person or his property which is foreseeable, and which can be avoided by the defendant’s exercise of reasonable care.” *Snow v. City of Columbia*, 305 S.C. 544, 554, 409 S.E.2d 797, 803 (Ct. App. 1997). “An affirmative legal duty may be created by statute, a contractual relationship, status, property interest, or some other special circumstance.” *Madison ex rel. Bryant v. Babcock Ctr., Inc.*, 371 S.C. 123, 136, 638 S.E.2d 650-656-57 (2006). “The standard of care in

a given case may be established and defined by the common law, statutes, administrative regulations, industry standards, or a defendant's own policies and guidelines." *Madison ex rel. Bryant*, 638 S.E.2d at 659.

At set forth in § I above, Edmonds' negligence claim is cognizable based on a theory of negligent supervision in accord with the Court's holding in *Sabb v. S.C. State University*. There, like here, an actionable duty to exercise due care in supervising a supervisory employee extended to that employee's subordinates where the employer was put on notice of wrongful conduct by that supervisor. *Sabb*, 567 S.E.2d at 237. Applying *Sabb*, Edmonds, has (contrary to the City's assertion) established a "recognized species" of negligence—negligent supervision. On negligent supervision, the City makes a passing assertion, without citing supporting authority, that negligent supervision claims require the commission of a tort by the negligently supervised. (Appellant Brief p. 9). "[T]he employer's liability under such a theory [referring to negligent supervision] does not rest on the negligence of another, but on the employer's own negligence." *James v. Kelly Trucking Co.*, 377 S.C. 628, 631, 661 S.E.2d 329, 331 (2008); ("Stated differently, the employer's liability under this theory is not derivative, it is direct.") *citing*, Restatement (Second) of Torts § 317 (1965). The City's unsupported assertion on this point is part and parcel of the dissenting opinion (as opposed to the majority opinion) in *Sabb*; here, the majority opinion controls. *Sabb*, 567 S.E.2d at 238 (2002) (Justice Pleicones, in dissent, for a higher bar to establish negligent supervision arising from the employer-employee relationship).⁹

⁹ The City did not assert that Edmonds needed to establish a tort by Chief Jenkins before the Trial Court, but if it had Edmonds could have cited the actionability of a tortious interference with contract claim on these facts. *See, Dutch Fork Dev. Grp. II, LLC v. SEL Properties, LLC*, 406 S.C. 596, 605, 753 S.E.2d 840, 844 (2012) ("[A]n agent may be liable for tortious interference, just as if the agent were an outside third party, if the allegedly interfering acts were conducted outside the scope of the agent's authority."); *quoting, CGB Occupational Therapy, Inc. v. RHA Health Servs., Inc.*, 357 F.3d 375, 385 (3d Cir.2004).

The Trial Court was not explicit on its basis for finding an actionable duty. “While there is generally no duty to act under the common law, a duty to use due care may arise where an act is voluntarily undertaken.” *Wright v. PRG Real Estate Mgmt., Inc.*, 426 S.C. 202, 217, 826 S.E.2d 285, 293 (2019); *citing*, *Vaughan v. Town of Lyman*, 370 S.C. 436, 446, 635 S.E.2d 631, 637 (2006). Admittedly, a recent holding of the Supreme Court (which came down a month after the trial in this case) recognized (as the City argues) that physical harm must occur for a plaintiff to establish negligence liability based on a voluntary undertaking. *Wright*, 826 S.E.2d at 294. Nonetheless, the City did not argue that Edmonds needed to establish physical harm below and even if it had, this Court could still recognize a duty based on the special circumstances in this case. *Edwards v. Lexington Cty. Sheriff's Dep't*, 386 S.C. 285, 294, 688 S.E.2d 125, 130 (2010) (“Respondents created a situation that they knew or should have known posed a substantial risk of injury to Edwards. Moreover, given Respondents’ knowledge of Baker’s demonstrated threats against Edwards, Respondents owed her a duty.”); (Recognizing a duty based on special circumstances where defendant had a prior relationship with intentional tortfeasor and had knowledge of his propensity to inflict harm on the plaintiff); *see also*, *S.C. State Ports Auth. v. Booz-Allen & Hamilton, Inc.*, 289 S.C. 373, 377, 346 S.E.2d 324, 326 (1986) (“Under this analysis, BAH owed a duty to the S.C. State Ports Authority to exercise due care to accurately report objective factual data concerning the Charleston port, if it knew or should have known the report was intended to be used by GPA as a marketing device.”); (Recognizing duty to a third party in compiling a report based on foreseeability of harm that could be caused by negligence in preparing the report). The issue of physical harm underlying a voluntary undertaking duty on Edmonds’ negligence claim is nonconsequential because Edmonds can establish a duty to supervise and because this argument is not preserved; however, even if this argument were in play the special circumstances of this case, extensive record evidence of notice about the Fire Chief’s negative conduct and retaliatory attitude justify finding an actionable duty.

Next, after addressing negligent supervision and a voluntary undertaking, the City discusses Edmonds' negligent misrepresentation claim. (Appellant Brief pp. 9-10). As noted above, Edmonds did not carry the misrepresentation claim to trial for strategic reasons. Therefore, this claim is not before the Court.¹⁰

Last, the City takes umbrage with the Court's jury charges and verdict form. As discussed more fully in the next section, many of the City's arguments on this front are not preserved. Moreover, the City's asserted issues with the jury charges and verdict form seemingly assert that the legal question of the existence of a duty should have been answered by the jury. (*See*, Appellant Brief p. 9). That the existence of a duty is a question of law is well-settled. *Ellis by Ellis v. Niles*, 324 S.C. 223, 227, 479 S.E.2d 47, 49 (1996) ("Whether the law recognizes a particular duty is an issue of law to be determined by the court."). Therefore, the Trial Judge's decision to decide the question of a duty certainly did not constitute an abuse of discretion. *Cole v. Raut*, 378 S.C. 398, 663 S.E.2d 30 (2008); *and, Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 529 S.E.2d 528 (2000); (Abuse of discretion standard on jury charges); *Keaton ex rel. v. Foster v. Greenville Hosp. Sys.*, 334 S.C. 488, 514 S.E.2d 570 (1999) ("An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision regarding jury instructions absent an abuse of discretion. In reviewing jury charges for error, [an appellate court] must consider the court's jury charge as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial. If, as a whole, the charges are reasonably free from error, isolated portions which might be misleading do not constitute reversible error."); *See also, S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C.*, 372 S.C. 295, 300, 641 S.E.2d 903, 906 (2007) (R. pp. 1-4); ("The determination of whether a special verdict should be submitted to the jury is within the sound discretion of the trial judge, and an appellate court will only reverse upon a finding of an abuse of that

¹⁰ Edmonds notes that the City's primary appeal counsel was not counsel before the Trial Court. Therefore, the undersigned believes that the City simply addressed negligent misrepresentation out of an abundance of caution, since the claim's dismissal was not affirmatively noted on the record below.

discretion.”). Here, the Court’s jury instructions and verdict form properly captured the law of negligence, after the Court had determined duty as a matter of law; therefore, neither the instructions nor the verdict form warrant reversal. Moreover, even if the City were to identify some error in either the jury instructions or the verdict form, the City cannot make a requisite showing of prejudice here, where the record is replete with sufficient evidence of a legally cognizable negligence claim. *See, Fields v. J. Haynes Waters Builders, Inc.*, 376 S.C. 545, 560, 658 S.E.2d 80, 88 (2008); (“To warrant reversal on appeal, the trial court’s instructions must be not only erroneous, but must also be prejudicial.”); *S.C. Dep’t of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C.*, 372 S.C. 295, 304, 641 S.E.2d 903, 908 (2007) (“SCDOT presented no evidence that the use of the special verdict form bent the will of the jury or prejudiced SCDOT in any way.”).

Edmonds, supported by a dense record, has proven a cognizable claim of negligent supervision in accordance with *Sabb*. Further, that claim is also supported by the special circumstances arising within the framework of this case’s fact-specific and considerable record on notice and foreseeable harm. The Court properly retained the question of a duty, properly charged the jury, and its verdict form was not the result of an abuse of discretion. As such, and for the reasons stated in Part I above, the Circuit Court’s denial of the City’s JNOV should be affirmed.

III. THE CITY’S ARGUMENTS ARE NOT PRESERVED

The City’s JNOV motion below and its appeal here should be limited only to those grounds that it raised on directed verdict and also raised before this Court. “[A] motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict simply takes [the Court] back to the point in the trial when a motion was made for a directed verdict, and is limited to those grounds.” *Standard Warehouse Co. v. Atl. Coast Line R. Co.*, 222 S.C. 93, 106–07, 71 S.E.2d 893, 897 (1952). “At a minimum, issue preservation requires that an issue be raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge.” *Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011). “It is ‘axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on

appeal.” *Herron*, 719 S.E.2d at 642; *quoting, Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998).

The City argued, at its mid-trial directed verdict, that: (1) it was not responsible for the actions of its consultant/investigator because she was an independent contractor; (2) that Edmonds had not established a breach or notice; and (3) that Edmonds’ claim was barred by the South Carolina Tort Claims Act and the Worker’s Compensation Act exclusivity provision . (R. pp. 261-265; 269-270). The City argued, at its post-evidence directed verdict, that: (1) Edmonds’ negligence claim had shifted beyond the pleadings; (2) that there was insufficient evidence of a breach or evidence of notice to establish a duty; and (3) that not imposing the Worker’s Compensation Act exclusivity provision was error and would abrogate at-will employment. (R. pp. 367-372). With respect to the first argument in its renewed directed verdict (shifting beyond the pleadings), the City did not argue that it was prejudiced which would have implicated a discretionary decision under Rule 15(b), SCRC. Finally, the City did not object to jury instructions with respect to the issues on appeal.¹¹ (R. pp. 382-385).

Edmonds, based on the foregoing, respectfully asserts the following arguments made by the City, or otherwise necessary to the City’s arguments, are not preserved for appellate review: (1) that at-will employment, on its own, is a bar to an actionable duty of care; (2) that the City was prejudiced by any development in the scope of Edmonds’ negligence claim from his complaint through trial; (3) that physical harm was required to establish a duty arising from a voluntary undertaking; and (4) that the Trial Court failed to properly charge negligence. Therefore, as an additional sustaining ground if the Court believes there may be some error with respect to any of the above points, then reversal is still not proper because these issues were not raised before the Circuit Court.

¹¹ The City did request a charge on concept of agency. (Transcript p. 365). That charge, however, was not specific to a negligent supervision claim where direct, rather than derivative, liability is at issue.

CONCLUSION

Respondent Michael Edmonds respectfully asks this Court to affirm the Circuit Court's denial of the Appellant City of Columbia's motion for judgment non obstante veredicto and alternative motion for a new trial based on the record and the governing law discussed above.